
 

The Board of Commissioners reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in attendance at the meeting, 
including the Board of Commissioners, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to the public except by a majority 

vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The board can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt matter during a public meeting even if not 

advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this 
meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the ADA Compliance Officer, at least three 

business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

 

Page 1 of 1 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Agenda 

Tuesday, August 18, 2020 ◊ 6:30 PM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

Opening 
1. Welcome - Call to Order 

2. Approval of Agenda 

3. Invocation 

4. Pledge of Allegiance (BS) 

 

Zoning Public Hearing 
5. Request by Danny Copelan to rezone 5.00 acres at 931 Pea Ridge Road from AG-2 to C-1 [Map 092, Parcel 017001001, 

District 2] (staff-P&D) 

6. Request by Mark Smith to rezone 0.46 acres at 147 Collis Marina Road from RM-2 to RM-2 [Map 104B, Parcel 012, 

District 3] (staff-P&D) 

7. Request by Rick McAllister, agent for Farmers and Merchants Bank, to rezone 171.23 acres on Scott Road from R-1 to C-

3 [Map 102, Parcel 002, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

8. Request by Putnam County Board of Commissioners to rezone .60 acres at 149 Collis Marina Road from RM-2 to R-1 

[Map 104B, Parcel 013, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

9. Request by Putnam County Board of Commissioners to rezone .54 acres at 151 Collis Marina Road from RM-2 to R-1 

[Map 104B, Parcel 014, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

 

Budget Public Hearing 
10. Presentation of Proposed FY21 Budget (staff-CM & Finance) 

11. Comments from Commissioners and/or Staff 

12. Comments from the Public 

 

Regular Business Meeting 
13. Public Comments 

14. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of Minutes - August 7, 2020 Public Hearings & Regular Meeting (staff-CC) 

b. Approval of Minutes - August 7, 2020 Executive Session (staff-CC) 

c. Approval of Minutes - August 7, 2020 Budget Work Session (staff-CC) 

d. Authorization for Chairman to sign ACCG IRMA Safety Discount Verification Form (staff-HR) 

e. Authorization for Chairman to sign ACCG GSWCF Safety Discount Verification Form (staff-HR) 

15. Authorization for Chairman to sign Final Subdivision Plat for Eagles Rest Cottages (staff-P&D) 

16. Approval of Certification of Road Abandonment of a portion of Little-Minton Road (staff-CC) 

17. Authorization for staff to schedule a Public Hearing for proposed changes to the Putnam County Code of Ordinances - 

Chapter 66 (Zoning) (staff-CA) 

 

Reports/Announcements 
18. County Manager Report 

19. County Attorney Report 

20. Commissioner Announcements 

 

Closing 
21. Adjournment 

1



File Attachments for Item:

5. Request by Danny Copelan to rezone 5.00 acres at 931 Pea Ridge Road from AG-2 to C-1 [Map 092, 

Parcel 017001001, District 2] (staff-P&D)

2



Request by Danny Copelan to rezone 5.00 acres at 931 Pea Ridge Road 
from AG-2 to C-1. [Map 092, Parcel 017001001, District 2].   

 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT-LISA JACKSON STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
The applicant is requesting to rezone 5.00 acres from AG-2 to C-1 to establish a 
commercial business. The concept plan shows a convenience store with gas station 

fuel pumps. This proposed commercial business will be located at the corner of 
Georgia State Route 16 and Pea Ridge Road. The desired use is consistent with the 

allowed uses, as listed in Sec. 66-103. - Uses allowed of the C-1 zoning district. The 
C-1 use could impact a couple of nearby properties. Still, overall, it would not 
adversely affect the area given that the proposed location is at the corner of a state 

highway and a main arterial road. Georgia State Route 16 is a major thoroughfare 
through Putnam County, and Pea Ridge Road is an important connector between 

Georgia State Route 16, U.S. Highway 441, and the Lake Oconee area. The 
property can be used as it is currently zoned; however, it would be more 
marketable as commercial in its given location. Although the Future Land Use 

Comprehensive Plan is Agriculture in this area, the location of this property makes 
it prime for commercial-1 development. If approved, the proposed development 

could adversely impact and create congestion for this busy intersection.  Therefore, 
staff recommends that the developer installs a deceleration lane on Pea Ridge 

Road. Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot 
shoulder shall be dedicated by the developer to the county. 
 

 
 

 

3



 
 

Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone 5.00 acres at 931 Pea 
Ridge Road [Map 092, Parcel 017001001, District 2] from AG-2 to C-1 with 

the following condition: (1) The developer shall construct a deceleration 
lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of Transportation 
Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the entrance 

on Pea Ridge Road of the development.  Additional right-of-way to 
accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be 

dedicated by the developer to the county. 
 
 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

 
The Planning & Zoning Commission’s recommendation is for approval to rezone 
5.00 acres at 931 Pea Ridge Road [Map 092, Parcel 017001001, District 2] from 

AG-2 to C-1 with the following condition: (1) The developer shall construct a 
deceleration lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of Transportation 

Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the entrance on Pea 
Ridge Road of the development.  Additional right-of-way to accommodate the 

deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated by the developer to the 
county. 
 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES: 

 
The Putnam County Planning & Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on 
Thursday, August 06, 2020 at 6:30 p.m. in the Putnam County Administration 

Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, Eatonton, Georgia. 

4



 
Present:  Martha Farley, Maurice Hill, Jr., John Mitchell (ineligible to vote), 

Tim Pierson, James Marshall, Jr.  
Staff Present:  Lisa Jackson, Courtney Andrews and Adam Nelson 

 
Request by Danny Copelan to rezone 5.00 acres at 931 Pea Ridge Road from AG-2 
to C-1. [Map 092, Parcel 017001001, District 2]. * Mr. Danny Copelan 

represented this request. He stated that he would like to develop a 
convenience/gas station/food type store. Vice Chairman Pierson asked Mr. Copelan 

what his plans would be if the convenience store/eatery does not happen. Mr. 
Copelan stated that he had not thought of anything else. Member Hill asked if there 
was a plan for a spill in place if the gas station is going to be there. Mr. Copelan 

stated that he did have plans for that. No one spoke in opposition of this request. 
 

The staff recommendation was for approval to rezone 5.00 acres at 931 
Pea Ridge Road [Map 092, Parcel 017001001, District 2] from AG-2 to C-1 
with the following condition: (1) The developer shall construct a 

deceleration lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of 
Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to 

service the entrance on Pea Ridge Road of the development.  Additional 
right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder 

shall be dedicated by the developer to the county. 
 
Motion to approve the request by Danny Copelan to rezone 5.00 acres at 931 Pea 

Ridge Road from AG-2 to C-1 with the following condition: (1) The developer shall 
construct a deceleration lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of 

Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the 
entrance on Pea Ridge Road of the development.  Additional right-of-way to 
accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated by 

the developer to the county made by Member Hill, Seconded by Member Farley 
Voting Yea: Chairman Marshall, Vice Chairman Pierson, Member Hill, 

Member Farley 
 

5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



093 058

093 060

093 049

093
050

093
055

093 05
4093 051 093 052001 093 061002

093 059

093
061004

092
017001

002

092 017001 001

093 052

092
017001

Sparta Hwy

Pea Ridge Rd SE

Pea Ridge Ln SE

Sparta Hwy

AG-1

C-1

AG-2

29



30



File Attachments for Item:

6. Request by Mark Smith to rezone 0.46 acres at 147 Collis Marina Road from RM-2 to RM-2 [Map 

104B, Parcel 012, District 3] (staff-P&D)

31



Request by Mark Smith to rezone 0.46 acres at 147 Collis Marina Road from 
RM-2 to RM-2. [Map 104B, Parcel 012, District 3]. 

 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT-LISA JACKSON STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
The applicant is seeking to rezone this parcel in order to combine it with an 
adjacent RM-2 parcel consisting of 1.40-acre.  Once combined, the applicant would 

like to develop two Multi-Family Townhome buildings consisting of 10 units in total.  
This property is landlocked and is adjacent to and behind the RM-2 property in 

which it is to be combined with  The proposed use is consistent with the allowed 
uses as listed in Sec. 66-93. - Uses allowed of RM-2. The adjacent property is 
zoned RM-2, and the property directly across Collis Marina Road is currently zoned 

RM-3. Therefore, the proposed use is suitable in view of the zoning and 
development of the adjacent and nearby property. The proposed development 

would have a minimum adverse effect on the existing use, value, or usability of 
adjacent or nearby properties. The Future Land Use Comprehensive Plan is 
Residential in this area, and there are adjacent similar developments. Recent 

development trends also indicate that single-family and multi-family development 
will continue to occur in this area. 

 

 
 

32



 
 
Staff recommendation is for approval of the proposed rezoning at 147 
Collis Marina Road [Map 104B, Parcel 012, District 3] from RM-2 to RM-2, 

subject to the following conditions: (1) This parcel must be combined with 
the adjacent parcel: Map 104B, Parcel 011, and cannot be used or sold as 

standalone parcels, (2) A 15-foot wide landscape buffer shall be 
established adjacent to all single-family residential zoned property, (3) 
Must improve any existing easement that services Map 104B Parcel 013 & 

Map 104B Parcel 014 with at least a 20-foot paved bed, (4) Vehicles shall 
not be parked on the easement at any time, (5) This rezoning shall be 

conditioned upon the resurveying and the recordation of the plats, as 
stated in Section 66-165(e)(3) of the Putnam County Code of Ordinances. 
 

 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The Planning & Zoning Commission does not have a recommendation for the 

request to rezone 0.46 acres at 147 Collis Marina Road from RM-2 to RM-2. [Map 
104B, Parcel 012, District 3] due to the lack of second to the motion for approval. 

 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES: 

 
The Putnam County Planning & Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on 

Thursday, August 06, 2020 at 6:30 p.m. in the Putnam County Administration 
Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, Eatonton, Georgia. 

33



 
Present:  Martha Farley, Maurice Hill, Jr., John Mitchell (ineligible to vote), 

Tim Pierson, James Marshall, Jr.  
Staff Present:  Lisa Jackson, Courtney Andrews and Adam Nelson 

 
Attorney Jay Dell represented this request. He stated that he requested that the 
subject property be approved of a rezoning from RM-2 to RM-2 with the condition 

that the property is combined with lot 11. He added that the boards main job is to 
balance an individual right to use their property against the public’s right for health, 

safety, morality, and general welfare of the community. Rezoning the 0.46 acres to 
RM-2 would not affect public health no safety. This property will be used for 
residential townhouses. Attorney Dell stated that there are 7 questions that the 

board considers when looking at this rezoning. Question 1: Is the rezoning 
consistent with the purpose of the zoning district? He stated that the area is 

residential and the use for the proposed zoning is residential. Question 2: Is it a 
suitable zoning with adjacent property? He stated that the property is adjacent to a 
RM-2 property and is located near multiple RM-3 properties. Question 3: Will the 

zoning adversely affect the use of adjacent properties? Attorney Dell stated that 
with the help of the conditions suggested by staff, there should be no adverse effect 

to the area. Question 4: Is there a reason why the property can’t be used as it’s 
currently zoned? He stated that that the property is land locked and it is oddly 

shaped and doesn’t have the area for development. Question 5: Does is cause 
excessive use of public facilities? Attorney Dell stated that it would not because 
there is water and sewer from Piedmont. He added that although this area is in a 

transitional stage, it is residential that is moving to higher volume and higher 
density residential district.  

 
At this time those who signed in to speak in opposition of the request were given 3 
minutes each. 

 
John Culpepper-104 Doug Ln. 

Mark Street-102 Doug Ln. 
Darlyne Wright- 149 Collis Marina Rd. 
Ron Carter-141 Collis Marina Rd. 

 
At this time, Attorney Dell was able to use the remainder of his unused time. 

 
Attorney Dell stated that the neighbors spoke of the west side of the cove being 
zoned R-1 except 1 lot. He added that because there is one lot that is zoned RM-2, 

it makes their remarks invalid. He stated that if the zoning is denied, the subject lot 
would be considered unbuildable. Attorney Dell added that if the zoning is not 

approved, the property will not revert back to R-1 due to their not being a motion 
set forth for that action. The only motion being considered is the property being 
rezoned to RM-2 with the conditions set by staff. Attorney Dell requested that 

they board allows his client the right to use his property for multifamily RM-2 use.  
 

The staff recommendation was for approval of the proposed rezoning at 
147 Collis Marina Road [Map 104B, Parcel 012, District 3] from RM-2 to 

34



RM-2, subject to the following conditions: (1) This parcel must be 
combined with the adjacent parcel: Map 104B, Parcel 011, and cannot be 

used or sold as standalone parcels, (2) A 15-foot wide landscape buffer 
shall be established adjacent to all single-family residential zoned 

property, (3) Must improve any existing easement that services Map 104B 
Parcel 013 & Map 104B Parcel 014 with at least a 20-foot paved bed, (4) 
Vehicles shall not be parked on the easement at any time, (5) This 

rezoning shall be conditioned upon the resurveying and the recordation of 
the plats, as stated in Section 66-165(e)(3) of the Putnam County Code of 

Ordinances. 
 
Vice Chairman Pierson asked Attorney Dell where in his client’s rights does it 

supersede lots 13 & 14 being stuck between 2 large buildings. Attorney Dell 
stated that this is weighing an individual’s right to use their property as they 

choose. The use of the property is not going to affect the value there.  
 
Motion to approve the request by Mark Smith to rezone 0.46 acres at 147 Collis 

Marina Road from RM-2 to RM-2 made by Member Farley, Seconded by none 
The motion dies without a second. 

 

35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



File Attachments for Item:

7. Request by Rick McAllister, agent for Farmers and Merchants Bank, to rezone 171.23 acres on Scott 

Road from R-1 to C-3 [Map 102, Parcel 002, District 3] (staff-P&D)

63



Request by Rick McAllister, agent for Farmers and Merchants Bank, to 
rezone 171.23 acres on Scott Road from R-1 to C-3. [Map 102, Parcel 002, 

District 3].  
 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT-LISA JACKSON STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The applicant is requesting to rezone 171 acres along Scott Road from R-1 to C-3 

Zoning. The subject property abuts C-1 and C-2 zoning districts. It also abuts a 
property that is zoned R-1, but a church is located on the property. They are 

seeking to establish a commercial and residential mixed-use community along the 
Scott Road connector.  The proposed development will consist of the following: 
eight commercial sites, totaling 35.29 acres; residential mixed consisting of 53 

acres and totaling 424 units; assisted living/independent living/ memory care 
having 5.82 acres; there will be 4.6 acres designated for expansion area; hospice 

care consisting of 2 acres; event space covering 1 acre; community park will have 
7.6 acres; boat storage area of 6.89 acres; maintenance area consisting of 4.33 
acres; open area/pond/ROW will consist of 50.7 acres; and walking/cart paths will 

total 2.75 miles  According to the applicant’s traffic impact study, the primary use 
will be the assisted living facility, which will be 130,000 square feet with an 

adjacent medical office and hospice. However, there will be 196 residential units. 
The traffic study adds that all the ancillary uses will be considered as internal uses 

and should generate minimal external traffic. Their study is also proposing that the 
commercial component of the development fronts Scott Road so that 100% of that 
traffic will enter and exit to and from Scott Road.   

However, the main entrance to the residential and assisted living component will 
have at least two access points, one on Scott Road and one on Sammons Parkway. 

As proposed, this project will take 20 years to reach 100% build-out. The study 
shows a four-phase development plan beginning in 2021 if approved.  The first 
phase is from 2021-2026 in which the hospice facility will be built entirely, the 

assisted living/independent living/memory care will be 77% complete, the 
residential mixed units and the commercial sites will be at 35% completion. 

Complete details can be found on page 3 of the traffic impact study.  The first 
phase will yield an increase in traffic by a total of 2,406 two-way trips per day or a 
peak hour of existing and proposed of 507 pcph. Based on the study, the 2,000 

Highway Capacity Manual suggests the capacity of two-lane, two-way highways to 
be 3,400 passenger cars per hour(pcph) for both directions and 1,700 pcph for one 

direction.  The study adds that a two-lane local street has typically a peak hour 
capacity of 1,000 vehicles per hour and is associated with a 24 feet wide roadway 
with either curb and gutter or five feet shoulders. Scott Road is 20 feet wide 

roadway with narrow shoulders and does not meet the roadway width as specified 
in the study; however, the projected hourly demand is 507 vehicles per day.  The 

report indicates that a two-lane capacity evaluation to determine the Level of 
Service (“LOS”) on Scott Road under existing conditions and the first five years and 
full development. The LOS for the first five years is LOS C, which concludes that the 

existing roadway is adequate for the immediate projected traffic. However, at the 
full twenty-year development, the LOS on Scott Road does go to LOS D. Full details 

can be found in Appendix A of the applicant’s traffic study. The study suggests that 
the developer should plan a deceleration lane and left-turn lane at the main 

64



intersection of the development and Scott Road. The study shows that the 
projected increase of traffic on Harmony Road will have a minimal impact and will 

not change the level of service on the roadway or the intersection. The study offers 
that the installation of the signal at Scott and Highway 44 intersection will have a 

more significant impact on Harmony Road.      
Furthermore, the proposed development is consistent with the existing residential, 
multi-family, and commercial developments in this area, and the comprehensive 

plan matches the proposed used for future mixed-use residential development. The 
proposed development should not have a negative impact on the surrounding and 

adjacent commercial zoned and used properties. There is no evidence that the 
proposed development would cause excessive or burdensome use of public 
services, nor should it affect police, fire protection, or sewer services. If approved, 

the staff recommends that the developer should install a deceleration lane and left-
turn lane at the main intersection of the development and Scott Road. This 

installation shall be implemented prior to the completion of Phase One. 
 

 
 

65



 
 
 
The staff recommendation is for approval of the proposed to rezone 171.23 

acres on Scott Road from R-1 to C-3. [Map 102, Parcel 002, District 3] with 
the following conditions: (1) The developer shall construct a deceleration 

lane and turn lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of 
Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to 

service the main entrance on Scott Road to the residential portion of the 
development. Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration 
lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated by the developer to the 

county. It shall be completed by the developer prior to the completion of 
phase one, and (2) The developer shall direct construction traffic through 

the entrance located at Sammons Parkway or the current ingress and 
egress point servicing the Putnam County Convenience Center, located 
approximately 672 feet from the intersection of Scott Road and Harmony 

Road. Subject to this condition, the Planning & Development Director may 
authorize, in writing, construction traffic along Scott Road on an as 

necessary basis. The intention of this condition is to minimize construction 
traffic along Scott Road. 
 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

 
The Planning & Zoning Commission’s recommendation is for approval of the 
proposed to rezone 171.23 acres on Scott Road from R-1 to C-3. [Map 102, Parcel 

002, District 3] with the following conditions: (1) The developer shall construct a 

66



deceleration lane and turn lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of 
Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the 

main entrance on Scott Road to the residential portion of the development. 
Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot 

shoulder shall be dedicated by the developer to the county. It shall be completed by 
the developer prior to the completion of phase one, and (2) The developer shall 
direct construction traffic through the entrance located at Sammons Parkway or the 

current ingress and egress point servicing the Putnam County Convenience Center, 
located approximately 672 feet from the intersection of Scott Road and Harmony 

Road. Subject to this condition, the Planning & Development Director may 
authorize, in writing, construction traffic along Scott Road on an as necessary 
basis. The intention of this condition is to minimize construction traffic along Scott 

Road. 
 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES: 
 

The Putnam County Planning & Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on 
Thursday, August 06, 2020 at 6:30 p.m. in the Putnam County Administration 

Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, Eatonton, Georgia. 
 

Present:  Martha Farley, Maurice Hill, Jr., John Mitchell (ineligible to vote), 
Tim Pierson, James Marshall, Jr.  
Staff Present:  Lisa Jackson, Courtney Andrews and Adam Nelson 

 
Mr. Rick McAllister represented this request. He stated that to his knowledge, this is 

the first time Putnam County has utilized the C-3 zoning request. He stated that he 
is happy to understand that there is a flexible zoning scenario in this county that 
works. In his professional opinion, the site is currently zoned R-1 but it is 

surrounded by C-1 and C-2 development. There is not a better opportunity to 
incorporate the zoning in the area. Mr. McAllister stated that this property is unique 

and is located within the fasted growing corridor or Putnam County. There is no 
access to Georgia Highway 44, but it fronts 4100 linear feet of road frontage on 
Scott Road that connects to Highway 44 and Harmony Road. It can contain its own 

water shed. The property has access to arterial roads and exiting access to the 
industrial corridor of Sammons Industrial Parkway. The site would be mixed used of 

residential and commercial use. It would have office space, assisted living, and 
independent living units. Mr. McAllister stated that the comprehensive plan list this 
as mixed use. The plan is to have 35 acres of commercial use of assisted living and 

hospice. 12 acres of office opportunities and 53 acres of residential use. There was 
a plan that was presented to Piedmont Water and the project was approved. Mr. 

McAllister stated that the infrastructure of the road is not made for 8,000 square 
feet of commercial use. He felt that their plan would work better for the 2 corridors 
of Harmony/Sammons Industrial and Scott Road. He added that the DRI is a large 

scaled development that will likely have regional affect beyond local government. 
He included his DRI in his packet. Mr. McAllister explained that the Middle Georgia 

Regional Commission stated that they have no issues with this project, and they 
could take action as they see fit from a county standpoint. He added that he had an 

67



independent study that was done, and it gave an illustration of what the 
development could do. This development could bring approximately 405 jobs, total 

annually estimated pay roll of approximately $15,000,000.00. In one year after the 
development is completed, there is an estimate of local buying sales tax of 

approximately $7,000,000.00. Local property tax from new buying power estimates 
approximately $200,000.00 per year. Local property tax from Scott Road 
commercial estimates approximately $1,300,000.00 and local sales from Scott 

Road sales estimates approximately $415,000.00. Local property tax from Scott 
Road residential sales estimates approximately $675,000.00. This total project is 

estimating a little over $9,000,000.00 a year. 
 
At this time those who signed in to speak in favor of the request were given 3 

minutes each. 
 

Howard McMichael 
  
Those who signed in to speak who were neither in favor nor against the request but 

wanted their comments/questions to be heard. 
 

Harley Wood- Sebastian Cove 
Beth Colie- Sebastian Cove 

Don Hill- Sebastian Cove 
Rebecca Sharp- Sebastian Cove 
 

At this time, Mr. McAllister was able to use the remainder of his unused time. 
 

Mr. McAllister stated that the concern about the traffic signal would be a county 
project. He stated that when a traffic signal is done, there must be a warrant study 
provided.  He added that this development, could help with the process of getting a 

traffic signal. Mr. McAllister stated that he submitted a detailed traffic study with his 
packet. The traffic study was based on the total development and a 5-year plan. 

The road that is there today is a 20-foot-wide type C traffic setting. To improve the 
traffic, they would need to put in turn lanes in order to redirect traffic.  
The staff recommendation was for approval of the proposed to rezone 171.23 acres 

on Scott Road from R-1 to C-3. [Map 102, Parcel 002, District 3] with the following 
conditions: (1) The developer shall construct a deceleration lane and turn lane in 

accordance with the Georgia Department of Transportation Regulations for 
Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the main entrance on Scott Road to 
the residential portion of the development. Additional right-of-way to accommodate 

the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated by the developer to 
the county. It shall be completed by the developer prior to the completion of phase 

one, and (2) The developer shall direct construction traffic through the entrance 
located at Sammons Parkway or the current ingress and egress point servicing the 
Putnam County Convenience Center, located approximately 672 feet from the 

intersection of Scott Road and Harmony Road. Subject to this condition, the 
Planning & Development Director may authorize, in writing, construction traffic 

along Scott Road on an as necessary basis. The intention of this condition is to 
minimize construction traffic along Scott Road. 

68



 
Vice Chairman Pierson asked Mr. McAllister why he chose the C-3 zoning over C-1 

and some of the property as R-1. Mr. McAllister stated that C-3 zoning allows you 
to master plan and gives the opportunity to design uses. The reason why it 

wouldn’t stay R-1 is because of the proposed assisted living facilities that are not 
allowed in the current R-1 zoning. He added that there are a variety of factors that 
give planners and engineers the most flexibility to take 171 acres and develop it 

correctly. Vice Chairman Pierson asked Mr. McAllister to address the impact of the 
road, particularly at Harmony Road. Mr. McAllister explained that they would need 

to put deceleration lanes to enter the development itself. Scott Road has 2 
scenarios that don’t meet DOT or county factors which is the width of the road and 
the sharp curve. He added that the only way to do it inexpensively is to utilize the 

land you have so that you can put in everything that is required. Mr. McAllister 
stated that they talked with the county in their initial meeting about helping with 

the land on Harmony Road and keeping the convenience center there. He added 
that they are developers willing to work with the county to develop a plan and 
utilize the land they can control to help. Member Hill stated that he understands Mr. 

McAllister not wanting to rezone to R-1, but what would be the likelihood of 
choosing a different residential zoning district to accommodate the growth without 

using C-3. Mr. McAllister stated that the C-3 zoning is available, and it is his opinion 
that it would be the best use.  

 
Motion to approve the request by Rick McAllister, agent for Farmers and Merchants 
Bank to rezone 171.23 acres on Scott Road from R-1 to C-3. [Map 102, Parcel 002, 

District 3] with the following conditions: (1) The developer shall construct a 
deceleration lane and turn lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of 

Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the 
main entrance on Scott Road to the residential portion of the development. 
Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot 

shoulder shall be dedicated by the developer to the county. It shall be completed by 
the developer prior to the completion of phase one, and (2) The developer shall 

direct construction traffic through the entrance located at Sammons Parkway or the 
current ingress and egress point servicing the Putnam County Convenience Center, 
located approximately 672 feet from the intersection of Scott Road and Harmony 

Road. Subject to this condition, the Planning & Development Director may 
authorize, in writing, construction traffic along Scott Road on an as necessary 

basis. The intention of this condition is to minimize construction traffic along Scott 
Road, made by Vice Chairman Pierson, Seconded by Member Hill 
Voting Yea: Chairman Marshall, Vice Chairman Pierson, Member Hill, Member Farley 

 

69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



File Attachments for Item:

8. Request by Putnam County Board of Commissioners to rezone .60 acres at 149 Collis Marina Road 

from RM-2 to R-1 [Map 104B, Parcel 013, District 3] (staff-P&D)

146



Request by Putnam County Board of Commissioners to rezone .60 acres at 
149 Collis Marina Road from RM-2 to R-1.  [Map 104B, Parcel 013, District 

3].  
 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT-LISA JACKSON STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
On January 16, 2018, the Board of Commissioners approved the rezoning of the 

subject parcel from R-1 to RM-2 subject to the condition that such parcel be 
combined with adjacent parcels Map 104B, Parcel 011, Map 104B, Parcel 012, and 

Map 104B, Parcel 014.  The instant parcel was not combined with the above-
referenced parcels, and there is no common developer or development plan to 
satisfy this condition. The use of the subject parcel is consistent with R-1, and such 

use is compatible with the zoning and development of the adjacent and nearby 
property. 

 
Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone .60 acres at 149 Collis 
Marina Road [Map 104B, Parcel 013, District 3] from RM-2 to R-1. 

 
 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

 
The Planning & Zoning Commission recommendation is for approval to rezone .60 
acres at 149 Collis Marina Road [Map 104B, Parcel 013, District 3] from RM-2 to R-

1. 
 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES: 
 

The Putnam County Planning & Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on 
Thursday, August 06, 2020 at 6:30 p.m. in the Putnam County Administration 

Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, Eatonton, Georgia. 
 
Present:  Martha Farley, Maurice Hill, Jr., John Mitchell (ineligible to vote), 

Tim Pierson, James Marshall, Jr.  
Staff Present:  Lisa Jackson, Courtney Andrews and Adam Nelson 

 
Putnam County Attorney Adam Nelson represented this request. He stated that at 
the last Board of Commissioners meeting, the board directed staff to file an 

application to rezone parcels 104B 013 and 104B 014 from RM-2 to R-1 and 
recognize the failure of the common development plan from the 2018 rezoning 

matter. There is no applicant other than the county and it will return the property 
back to the zoning prior to the 2018 zoning. 
 

At this time those who signed in to speak in opposition of the request were given 3 
minutes each. 

 
Mark Street-102 Doug Ln. 

147



Ron Carter-141 Collis Marina Rd. 
 

The staff recommendation is for approval to rezone .60 acres at 149 Collis Marina 
Road [Map 104B, Parcel 013, District 3] from RM-2 to R-1. 

 
Vice Chairman Pierson asked for clarification that lot 12 will also be changed 
tonight. Attorney Nelson stated that he would not advise speaking on an item that 

is not on the agenda. 
 

Motion to approve the request by Putnam County Board of Commissioners to 
rezone .60 acres at 149 Collis Marina Road from RM-2 to R-1 made by Vice 
Chairman Pierson, Seconded by Member Hill 

Voting Yea: Chairman Marshall, Vice Chairman Pierson, Member Hill, Member Farley  
 

148



149



File Attachments for Item:

9. Request by Putnam County Board of Commissioners to rezone .54 acres at 151 Collis Marina Road 

from RM-2 to R-1 [Map 104B, Parcel 014, District 3] (staff-P&D)

150



Request by Putnam County Board of Commissioners to rezone .54 acres at 
151 Collis Marina Road from RM-2 to R-1. [Map 104B, Parcel 014, District 

3].  
 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT-LISA JACKSON STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
On January 16, 2018, the Board of Commissioners approved the rezoning of the 

subject parcel from R-1 to RM-2 subject to the condition that such parcel be 
combined with adjacent parcels Map 104B, Parcel 011, Map 104B, Parcel 012, and 

Map 104B, Parcel 013.  The instant parcel was not combined with the above-
referenced parcels, and there is no common developer or development plan to 
satisfy this condition. The use of the subject parcel is consistent with R-1, and such 

use is compatible with the zoning and development of the adjacent and nearby 
property. 

 
Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone .54 acres at 151 Collis 
Marina Road [Map 104B, Parcel 014, District 3] from RM-2 to R-1. 

 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
 

The Planning & Zoning Commission recommendation is for approval to rezone .54 
acres at 151 Collis Marina Road [Map 104B, Parcel 014, District 3] from RM-2 to R-
1. 

 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES: 
 
The Putnam County Planning & Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on 

Thursday, August 06, 2020 at 6:30 p.m. in the Putnam County Administration 
Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, Eatonton, Georgia. 

 
Present:  Martha Farley, Maurice Hill, Jr., John Mitchell (ineligible to vote), 
Tim Pierson, James Marshall, Jr.  

Staff Present:  Lisa Jackson, Courtney Andrews and Adam Nelson 
 

Attorney Adam Nelson represented this request. He stated that at the last Board 
of Commissioners meeting, the board directed staff to file an application to rezone 
parcels 104B 013 and 104B 014 from RM-2 to R-1 and recognize the failure of the 

common development plan from the 2018 rezoning matter. No one spoke in 
opposition of this request. 

 
The staff recommendation is for approval to rezone .54 acres at 151 Collis 
Marina Road [Map 104B, Parcel 014, District 3] from RM-2 to R-1. 

  
Motion to approve the request by Putnam County Board of Commissioners to 

rezone .54 acres at 151 Collis Marina Road from RM-2 to R-1 made by Member 
Hill, Seconded by Vice Chairman Pierson 

151



Voting Yea: Chairman Marshall, Vice Chairman Pierson, Member Hill, 
Member Farley  

 

152



153



File Attachments for Item:

14. Consent Agenda

a. Approval of Minutes - August 7, 2020 Public Hearings & Regular Meeting (staff-CC)

b. Approval of Minutes - August 7, 2020 Executive Session (staff-CC)

c. Approval of Minutes - August 7, 2020 Budget Work Session (staff-CC)

d. Authorization for Chairman to sign ACCG IRMA Safety Discount Verification Form (staff-HR)

e. Authorization for Chairman to sign ACCG GSWCF Safety Discount Verification Form (staff-HR)

154



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 1 of 4                                                                                     Approved 

August 7, 2020                                                                                                                                                           ______________ 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Minutes 

Friday, August 7, 2020 ◊ 9:00 AM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

The Putnam County Board of Commissioners met on Friday, August 7, 2020 at approximately 

9:00 AM in the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, 

Eatonton, Georgia. 

 

PRESENT  

Chairman Billy Webster 

Commissioner Kelvin Irvin 

Commissioner Daniel Brown 

Commissioner Bill Sharp 

 

STAFF PRESENT 

County Attorney Adam Nelson 

County Manager Paul Van Haute 

County Clerk Lynn Butterworth 

 

 

Opening 
1. Welcome - Call to Order 

Chairman Webster called the meeting to order at approximately 9:01 a.m. 

(Copy of agenda made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

2. Approval of Agenda 

Motion to approve the agenda with removal of item #10 "Discussion and possible action 

regarding entering into a contract with the Morgan County Board of Commissioners to 

pave miscellaneous roads (1.33 miles) and be reimbursed under the terms of the estimate 

and contract." 

Motion made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Irvin. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp 
 

3. Invocation 

County Attorney Adam Nelson gave the invocation. 

 

4. Pledge of Allegiance (BS) 

Commissioner Sharp led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

155



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 2 of 4                                                                                     Approved 

August 7, 2020                                                                                                                                                           ______________ 

Road Abandonment Public Hearing 
5. Consideration of Road Abandonment - portion of Little-Minton Road (BW) 

Chairman Webster called the Public Hearing to order at approximately 9:05 a.m. 

No on signed in to speak for or against the consideration of abandoning a portion of Little-

Minton Road. 

Chairman Webster closed the Public Hearing at approximately 9:07 a.m. 

 

Code of Ordinances Public Hearing 
6. Proposed adoption of changes to the Putnam County Code of Ordinances - Chapter 6 

(Alcoholic Beverages) 

Chairman Webster called the Public Hearing to order at approximately 9:07 a.m. 

No one signed in to speak for or against the proposed adoption of changes to the Putnam County 

Code of Ordinances - Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages). 

Motion to approve the proposed changes to the Putnam County Code of Ordinances - 

Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages). 

Motion made by Commissioner Irvin, Seconded by Commissioner Sharp. 

Voting Yea: Chairman Webster, Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Sharp 

Voting Nay: Commissioner Brown 

(Copy of changes made a part of the minutes on minute book pages __________ to 

__________.) 

Chairman Webster closed the Public Hearing at approximately 9:10 a.m. 

Regular Business Meeting 
7. Public Comments 

None 

 

8. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of Minutes - July 21, 2020 Regular Meeting 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda. 

Motion made by Commissioner Irvin, Seconded by Commissioner Sharp. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp 
 

9. Authorization for the Chairman to sign a letter to the Middle Georgia Regional Commission 

for Technical Assistance on achieving a Broadband Ready Community Designation (staff-

CM) 

Motion to authorize the Chairman to sign a letter to the Middle Georgia Regional 

Commission for Technical Assistance on achieving a Broadband Ready Community 

Designation. 

Motion made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Irvin. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp 

(Copy of letter made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

10. Discussion and possible action regarding entering into a contract with the Morgan County 

Board of Commissioners to pave miscellaneous roads (1.33 miles) and be reimbursed under 

the terms of the estimate and contract (staff-CM) 

This item was removed from the agenda. 

 

156



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 3 of 4                                                                                     Approved 

August 7, 2020                                                                                                                                                           ______________ 

11. Approval of Revised General Guidelines for use of County Property (BW) 

Chairman Webster reviewed the proposed changes and pointed out one clerical error.  New 

addition #3 should read "County Property may only be used twice in a calendar year by any one 

individual or non-governmental group."  The word "non-governmental" was left out of the 

proposal. 

Motion to approve the changes to the General Guidelines for use of County Property with a 

change to new addition #1 to read "A fee of $300 per event is required, with $150 of it being 

refundable if approved." 

Motion made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Irvin. 

 

Amended motion to leave new addition #1 as "A fee of $200 per event is required, with 

$100 of it being refundable if approved." 

Amended motion made by Commissioner Irvin, Seconded by Commissioner Brown. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp 
 

Vote on original motion as amended: 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp 

(Copy of guidelines made a part of the minutes on minute book pages __________ to 

__________.) 

Reports/Announcements 
12. County Manager Report 

No report. 

 

13. County Attorney Report 

County Attorney Nelson reported that he will be asking for a public hearing to be set at the next 

meeting for ordinance changes to Chapter 66. 

 

14. Commissioner Announcements 

Commissioner Irvin: none 

 

Commissioner Brown: encouraged everyone to complete their Census and encourage others as 

well. 

 

Commissioner Sharp: none 

 

Chairman Webster: advised that the Census Complete Count Committee has requested all 

commissioners attend their meeting on August 13, 2020 at 5:30 PM and that the Census Bureau 

has changed the deadline to September 30th from October 31st. 

Executive Session 
15. Enter Executive Session as allowed by O.C.G.A. 50-14-4 for Personnel, Litigation, or Real 

Estate 

Motion to enter Executive Session as allowed by O.C.G.A. 50-14-4 for Real Estate 

purposes. 

Motion made by Commissioner Brown, Seconded by Commissioner Irvin. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp 

157



DRAFT Minutes                                                             Page 4 of 4                                                                                     Approved 

August 7, 2020                                                                                                                                                           ______________ 

Meeting closed at approximately 9:36 a.m. 

 

 

16. Reopen meeting and execute Affidavit concerning the subject matter of the closed portion of 

the meeting 

Motion to reopen the meeting and execute the Affidavit concerning the subject matter of 

the closed portion of the meeting. 

Motion made by Commissioner Irvin, Seconded by Commissioner Brown. 

Voting Yea: Chairman Webster, Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown 

(Commissioner Sharp was not present) 

(Copy of affidavit made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

 

Meeting reopened at approximately 10:11 a.m. 

 

 

17. Action, if any, resulting from the Executive Session 

No action was taken. 

Closing 
18. Adjournment 

Motion to adjourn the meeting. 

Motion made by Commissioner Irvin, Seconded by Commissioner Brown. 

Voting Yea: Chairman Webster, Commissioner Irvin, Commissioner Brown 

(Commissioner Sharp was not present.) 

 

 

Meeting adjourned at approximately 10:12 a.m. 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

Lynn Butterworth      Billy Webster 

County Clerk       Chairman 

158



PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

Office of the County Clerk 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 

706-485-5826 (main office) ◊ 706-485-1877 (direct line) ◊ 706-923-2345 (fax) 

lbutterworth@putnamcountyga.us ◊ www.putnamcountyga.us 

 

 

 

 

The draft minutes of the August 7, 2020 Executive 

Session are available for Commissioner review in the 

Clerk’s office. 
 

159

mailto:lbutterworth@putnamcountyga.us
http://www.putnamcountyga.us/


DRAFT Budget Work Session Minutes                         Page 1 of 1                                                                                     Approved 

August 7, 2020                                                                                                                                                              ____________ 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Minutes 

Friday, August 7, 2020 ◊ 10:00 AM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

The Putnam County Board of Commissioners met on Friday, August 7, 2020 at approximately 

10:12 AM in the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, 

Eatonton, Georgia. 

 

PRESENT  

Chairman Billy Webster 

Commissioner Kelvin Irvin 

Commissioner Daniel Brown 

Commissioner Bill Sharp 

 

STAFF PRESENT 

County Manager Paul Van Haute 

County Clerk Lynn Butterworth 

Finance Director Linda Cook 

 

Opening 
1. Call to Order 

Chairman Webster called the budget work session to order at approximately 10:12 a.m. 

(Copy of agenda made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

Work Session 
2. Budget Discussions 

Comments were made by Cooper Rainey for the Coroner's office, Alan Horton for Putnam 

General Hospital, and Walt Rocker and Pat Topping for the Putnam Development Authority.  No 

action was taken. 

 

Closing 
3. Adjournment 

Chairman Webster adjourned the work session at approximately 11:53 a.m. 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

Lynn Butterworth      Billy Webster 

County Clerk       Chairman 

160



161



162



File Attachments for Item:

15. Authorization for Chairman to sign Final Subdivision Plat for Eagles Rest Cottages (staff-P&D)

163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



File Attachments for Item:

16. Approval of Certification of Road Abandonment of a portion of Little-Minton Road (staff-CC)

189



ROAD ABANDONMENT CHECKLIST 

 
Name of Road ___________________________________________ 
 

When there is a request to abandon a county road the following steps must be followed: 

 

1. The Board of Commissioners must approve beginning the process at a regular board meeting. 

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

 

2. A “Notice of Intent to Abandon A County Road” must be published in the legal organ of the 

county for two weeks. 

 

Completed   Dates ____________________________ 

 

3. Post signs at each end of the road proposed to be abandoned. 

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

 

4. Public hearing is held. 

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

 

5. Board of Commissioners approves Certification of Road Abandonment at a regular board 

meeting.  

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

 

a.  A copy of the certification and plat is mailed to the property owner(s). 

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

 

b.  A copy of the certification and plat is published in the county’s legal organ for two 

weeks. 

 

Completed   Dates ____________________________ 

 

6. Board of Commissioners declares road abandoned and authorizes Chairman to sign affidavit 

of abandonment at a regular board meeting. 

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

 

a.  County attorney prepares an affidavit of abandonment, to be executed by the 

Chairman, and files the same with the Putnam County Superior Court. 

 

Completed   Date ____________________________ 

Little-Minton Road (portion)

7-10-2020

7-23-2020 & 7-30-2020

7-29-2020

8-7-2020

8-18-2020

✔

✔

✔

✔

190



CERTIFICATION BY  
PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
OF DETERMINATION REGARDING ABANDONING 

COUNTY ROAD AND DECLARATION OF ABANDONMENT 
 

 
 WHEREAS, the Putnam County Board of Commissioners has determined that a section of the 
county road system, specifically, a portion of Little-Minton Road more particularly described on a plat of 
survey attached hereto as “Exhibit A” and made a part hereof, has ceased to be used by the public to the 
extent that no substantial public purpose is served by it; and 
 
 WHEREAS, notice of a public hearing with respect to abandoning such public roads has been 
published once a week for a period of two weeks in The Eatonton Messenger which is the newspaper in 
which the sheriff’s advertisements for the county are published; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on August 7, 2020, a public hearing on such issue was held; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in accordance with the provisions of OCGA 32-7-2(b)(1), the Putnam County 
Board of Commissioners does hereby certify that it has determined that the portion of Little-Minton Road 
described on “Exhibit A” attached hereto has ceased to be used by the public to the extent that no 
substantial public purpose is served by it.  The Board does hereby direct the County Clerk to record said 
certification in the Board’s minutes, to provide said certification to the property owners located on the 
portion of the roads described on said “Exhibit A”, and to publish notice of said certification in The 
Eatonton Messenger once a week for a period of two weeks. 
 
 The Board does hereby declare that portion of Little-Minton Road described on said “Exhibit A” 
to be abandoned once the requirements of OCGA 32-7-2(b)(1) have been met.  Thereafter that portion of 
road shall no longer be part of the county road system and the rights of the public in and to the portion 
of the roads as public roads shall cease. 
 
This 18th day of August 2020 
 
 
PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
  
Billy Webster 
Chairman 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
Lynn Butterworth 
County Clerk 

191



EXHIBIT A
192



File Attachments for Item:

17. Authorization for staff to schedule a Public Hearing for proposed changes to the Putnam County 

Code of Ordinances - Chapter 66 (Zoning) (staff-CA)

193



Sec. 66-20. - Definitions. 

 

Patron.  Individual or entity that enters into agreement to pay for goods, services, or 

repair.  Once the agreement ends, the patronage also ends. 

 

Customer.  Individual or entity that buys goods, services, or repair on a single or daily 

transaction. 

 

Sec. 66-110. - Development standards. 

 

(a) Minimum lot size: Ten acres. 

 

(b) Minimum lot width at the building setback line is 200 feet. 

 

(c) Minimum setback requirements are as follows: 

 

1. Front setback: 50 100 feet. 

 

2. Side setback: 50 feet. 

 

3. Rear setback: 50 100 feet; from lake or river: 100 feet. 

 

(d) Maximum height of structures: Three stories. 

 

(e) Basic parking requirement: One space per each 200 square feet of space 

designated for retail sales. See chapter 28, development regulations, for other 

commercial or recreational uses. 

 

(f) Maximum lot coverage by buildings: 35 percent. 

 

(g) Buffer and berm requirement: 100 feet if adjacent to any residential district. 

 

(h) Mixed-use residential component minimum heated floor area per dwelling unit: 

1,000 square feet. 

 

(i) Density: For permanent residential (apartments/condos/rental cottages), eight 

dwelling units per acre is the maximum density permitted in this district. All 

numerical values not yielding a whole number shall be rounded down to the lesser 

whole number. 

 

(j) Maximum commercial floor area is computed at 25,000 square feet per acre. 

Exterior recreation uses such as golf courses or swimming facilities are not 

included in the floor area computation. 

 

Sec. 66-158. - Board of commissioners, scope of authority. 

 

194



(a) Initiation. This chapter, including the official zoning maps, may be amended by 

the board of commissioners on its own motion or by private petition or on 

recommendation of the planning and zoning commission. 

 

(b) Variances. The board of commissioners shall hear and decide on applications for 

variances from the development standards or performance standards of this 

chapter only on appeal of the decision of the planning and zoning commission. 

Such variances may be granted only: 

 

1. Where by reason of exceptional narrowness, shallowness or shape of a 

specific piece of property, which at the time of adoption of this chapter, 

was a lot or plat of record; or 

 

2. Where, by reason of exceptional topographic conditions or other 

extraordinary or exceptional conditions of a piece of property, the strict 

application of the development requirements of this chapter would result 

in practical difficulties to, and undue hardship upon, the owner of this 

property, which difficulty or hardship is not the result of acts of the 

applicant; and further provided that this relief may be granted without 

substantially impairing the intent and purpose of this chapter and is not 

contrary to the public welfare. 

 

3. In granting a variance, the board of commissioners may attach thereto 

such conditions regarding the location, character and other features of the 

proposed building, structure or use as it may deem advisable so that the 

purpose of this chapter will be served, public safety and welfare secured, 

and substantial justice done. The board of commissioners is authorized to 

grant a density variance or a use variance to permit a density or use in a 

district where otherwise prohibited. 

 

(c) Appeals of administrative decision. 

 

1. Who may seek an appeal. Any person, firm or officer, department, board 

or agency directly affected by the decision of the planning and zoning 

commission may bring an appeal before the board of commissioners. Such 

request shall be made within ten days following notification of the 

decision from which an appeal is taken by filing with the director a notice 

of appeal and specifying the grounds thereof. The director shall forthwith 

transmit to the board of commissioners all papers constituting the record 

upon which the action appealed from was taken. 

 

2. Decisions subject to appeal. Actions of the planning and zoning 

commission subject to appeal are limited to the following administrative 

decisions: 

 

a. grant or denial of variance requests; and/or 

195



 

b. interpretation of the provisions of Chapter 66 as appealed to the 

planning and zoning commission pursuant to Sec. 66-157(d).  

 

3. Extent of commission power. The board of commissioners may, in 

conformity with this chapter, reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may 

modify the order, requirement, decision or determination appealed. 

 

4. Effect of appeal. An appeal waiting for a hearing shall not stay the 

effectiveness of the permit or decision being challenged. However, if the 

owner of property who has received the permit, variance or favorable 

interpretation proceeds with development at the property owner's own risk 

that such development may be halted if the appeal is successful. 

 

Sec. 66-159. - Procedures for public hearings and meetings. 

 

(a) The following rules of procedure govern meetings and public hearings on all 

amendments, rezoning, variances, appeals, matters of interpretation and similar 

matters relating to this chapter before the planning and zoning commission or the 

board of commissioners. These rules apply to all such public hearing items 

appearing on any agenda. 

 

1. Individuals desiring to address the planning and zoning commission or the 

board of commissioners regarding an agenda item are required to sign in 

prior to the commencement of the meeting or public hearing. Such 

comments by any one person should not exceed three minutes. Applicants 

or proponents of an item on the public hearing agenda shall be heard first 

and shall have a minimum of ten minutes in which to present any 

information pertinent to the issue to be decided. Opponents of the issue 

may respond and shall have a minimum of ten minutes in which to present 

any information pertinent to the issue to be decided. Applicants or 

proponents may use any unused portion of their ten minutes for rebuttal. 

Opponents shall not have the right of rebuttal. No demonstrations will be 

permitted. 

 

2. Written comments on the subject of the meeting or hearing may be 

submitted by any person at any time prior to the adjournment of the 

hearing. 

 

3. Following the presentation of positions by members of the public, a 

recommendation from the county staff shall be presented. 

 

4. Following the staff recommendation, members of the planning and zoning 

commission or the board of commissioners may ask of anyone present 

questions pertinent to the issue. 

 

196



5. Following questions and/or comments by the planning and zoning 

commission or the board of commissioners, a motion for action on the 

issue will be in order. 

 

6. Authorized action by the planning and zoning commission or the board of 

commissioners, with respect to any motion pending before it, consists of 

one of the following: Approval, approval with conditions, denial, deferral, 

withdrawal without prejudice, or deferral to a time certain. Additionally, 

the board of commissioners may remand the proposed action for further 

consideration by the planning and zoning commission. Any vote shall be 

by roll call. A tie vote acts as a denial. 

 

7. No official action shall be taken except upon the affirmative vote of at 

least three members of the planning and zoning commission or the board 

of commissioners, or a majority of a quorum. 

 

8. Minutes of the meetings of the planning and zoning commission and the 

board of commissioners shall be maintained and any written or other 

tangible materials presented at the hearing must be kept as a permanent 

record. Any person desiring a transcript of the hearing must arrange for a 

court reporter at their own expense. 

 

9. The board of commissioners shall confirm, in writing to the applicant, its 

decisions with respect to any matter pending before it at the request of a 

private applicant. Any map amendment shall be posted by the director of 

the planning and development department on the official zoning maps 

within 30 days of its approval by the board of commissioners. On the 

effective date of the amendment of the official zoning maps, such 

amendments shall be posted in an appropriate manner; and records 

accompanying or references upon the maps shall enable the identification 

of the official action by which such amendment was made and the date of 

such action. No such amendment shall become effective until such change 

in entry has been made on the official maps, it being the intent of this 

chapter that the public shall be able to rely on such maps as correct and 

final authority as to current zoning status without investigating for 

possible errors or omissions. No change of any nature shall be made in the 

official zoning maps except in conformity with the procedures and 

requirements of this division. 

 

(b) If the official zoning maps become damaged, lost or difficult to interpret by 

reason of the nature or number of changes, the commission may by ordinance 

authorize new official zoning maps which shall supersede the prior maps; 

provided, however, that if there is uncertainty about the zoning status of any area 

because of the condition of the maps or any part thereof, such action shall take the 

form of an amendment to this chapter, and shall resolve the uncertainty. The new 

official zoning maps may correct drafting or other omissions or errors in the prior 

197



maps. The new official zoning maps shall be authenticated and attested as for the 

original, with wording indicating when and by what instrument the prior 

document was adopted. Unless the prior official zoning maps have been lost or 

wholly destroyed, such documents, or any remaining significant parts thereof, 

shall be preserved, together with any significant records pertaining to its adoption 

or amendment, as a guide to prior zoning status of areas. 

 

Sec. 66-161. - Application for a zoning change. 

 

(a) Authority to initiate amendments. Applications to amend this chapter may be in 

the form of proposals to amend the text, or proposals to amend part or all of the 

official zoning maps (a rezoning) or by actions initiated by the board of 

commissioners. An application for an amendment to the official zoning map, 

affecting the same property, shall not be submitted more than once every 12 

months. Such interval begins with the date of the final decision by the board of 

commissioners. The board of commissioners, in its discretion and by unanimous 

vote, may reduce or waive the final six-month time interval to amend the official 

zoning map affecting the same property. However, an application to alter 

conditions of rezoning as contemplated in subsection 66-166(b) of this division 

may be submitted at any time. Applications shall be the same as for a rezoning 

and shall comply with the requirements of this section, excluding subsections (b) 

and (c) hereof. 

 

(b) Application: receipt and acceptance. 

 

1. Whenever an application is initiated by a person or persons other than the 

board of commissioners, the following requirements shall be met. Prior to 

processing any such application, the applicant shall be required to file the 

necessary documentation and follow the procedures as set forth in this 

section. 

 

2. An application shall be made in writing to the planning and development 

department on forms provided by the department. Each application shall 

include the signatures of the applicant and property owner. It shall affirm 

the owner is in fact the current owner of record. The letter of agency form 

shall be notarized. 

 

3. No application will be considered to have been made until such form(s) as 

described in subsection 66-161(c) herein have been completed and 

submitted to the planning and development department with the 

application fees as established by the board of commissioners and 

supporting materials as required under this article.  Materials, documents, 

or evidence presented in favor of an application for zoning change must be 

submitted no later than the immediate Friday preceding the planning and 

zoning commission’s consideration of the request.  

 

198

https://library.municode.com/ga/putnam_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH66ZO_ARTIVADEN_DIV3ZOCH_S66-166CH
https://library.municode.com/ga/putnam_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH66ZO_ARTIVADEN_DIV3ZOCH_S66-161APZOCH


4. Any communication relative to an application for a zoning change will be 

regarded as informational only until a proper and complete application is 

accepted by the director of the planning and development department or 

designee. The planning and development department shall review the 

application for completeness within five workdays following the 

submission deadline. Incomplete or improper applications will be returned 

to the applicant with a written list of deficiencies and signed by the 

director. The application submittal deadline shall be the last Thursday of 

every month, unless said day is a holiday, as may be established by the 

board of commissioners, then the deadline shall be the day before. 

 

(c) Application contents. An application is to be submitted in one signed original 

copy and in a number of copies as established by the planning and development 

department. The following is required for all residential and commercial 

subdivision rezoning requests. All other requests must include subsections 

(c)(1)—(13). 

 

1. Properly executed application form supplied by the planning and 

development department, including the owner's signature and a 

letter of agency form or a specific notarized written authorization 

by the owner delegating the applicant to act on behalf of the owner 

and that the applicant may agree to any conditions and stipulations 

on the behalf of the owner that may be attached to the application 

by the approval of the application by the board of commissioners. 

 

2. The location of the subject property, including street number, if 

any; 

 

3. Copy of warranty deed; 

 

4. Legal description and recorded plat of the property to be rezoned; 

 

5. Existing zoning district classification of the property and adjacent 

properties; and the proposed zoning district desired; 

 

6. The comprehensive plan future land use map category in which the 

property is located. If more than one category applies, the areas in 

each category are to be illustrated on the concept plan; 

 

7. A detailed description of existing land uses; 

 

8. The area of land proposed to be rezoned, stated in square feet if 

less than one acre and in acres if one acre or more; 

 

9. A statement as to the source of domestic water supply; 

 

199



10. A statement as to the provision for sanitary sewage disposal; 

 

11. Statement of political contributions by the applicant and the 

applicant's attorney as required by the Georgia Conflict of Interest 

in Zoning Act (O.C.G.A. § 36-67A); 

 

12. The application designation, date of application and action taken 

on all prior applications filed for rezoning for all or part of the 

subject property; 

 

13. Proof that property taxes for the parcel(s) in question have been 

paid; 

 

14. Concept plan. (If the application is for less than 25 single-family 

residential lots, a concept plan need not be submitted.) 

 

a. An application shall be accompanied by a concept plan. A 

concept plan may be prepared by a professional engineer, a 

registered land surveyor, a landscape architect, a land 

planner or any other person professionally involved in and 

familiar with land development activities. 

 

b. The concept plan shall be drawn on a boundary survey of 

the property. The boundary survey shall have been 

prepared by a currently registered Georgia Registered Land 

Surveyor and meet the requirements of the State of Georgia 

for such a map or plat under O.C.G.A. § 15-6-67(b). 

 

c. The concept plan shall show the following: 

 

1. Proposed use of the property. 

 

2. The proposed project layout including: 

 

i. For residential subdivisions, commercial, or 

industrial applications, approximate lot lines and 

street right-of-way lines, along with the front 

building setback line on each lot. 

 

ii. For multifamily and nonresidential development 

projects, the approximate outline and location of all 

buildings, and the location of all minimum building 

setback lines, outdoor storage areas, dumpsters, 

zoning buffers, parking areas, loading stations, 

stormwater detention facilities, and driveways, 

entrances and exits. 

200



 

3. Name, address, and telephone number of the 

applicant, if different than the owner. 

 

4. The approximate location of proposed stormwater 

detention facilities and the location shown. 

 

5. Such additional information as may be useful to 

permit an understanding of the proposed use and 

development of the property particularly with 

respect to the compatibility of the proposed use 

with adjacent properties. 

 

15. Impact analysis. (If the application is for less than 25 single-family 

residential lots, an impact analysis need not be submitted.) The 

impact analysis shall be prepared by a professional engineer, a 

registered land surveyor, a landscape architect, a land planner or 

any other person professionally involved in and familiar with land 

development activities. 

 

a. The application must be accompanied by a written, 

documented analysis of the proposed zoning change with 

regard to each of the standards governing consideration, 

which are enumerated under subsection 66-165(d). 

 

b. A traffic impact analysis is to include the existing average 

daily traffic on road/streets leading to the nearest 

intersection and the projected average daily traffic. 

Additional requirements of the analysis may be provided by 

the planning and development department and included 

with the application. 

 

c. The estimated number of dwelling units and total floor area 

of nonresidential uses (if applicable) of the proposed 

development. 

 

d. Effect on the environment surrounding the area to be 

rezoned including the effect on all natural and historic 

resources. (State source of the information.) 

 

e. Impact on fire protection with respect to the need for 

additional firefighting equipment or personnel. (State 

source of the information.) 

 

f. What are the physical characteristics of the site with respect 

to topography and drainage courses? 

201

https://library.municode.com/ga/putnam_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH66ZO_ARTIVADEN_DIV3ZOCH_S66-165ACREAPTEAM


 

g. Adjacent and nearby zoning and land use. 

 

(d) Processing of zoning change applications by staff. 

 

1. Prior to a public hearing for any zoning change pursuant to section 

66-161, the director shall send a copy of the agenda to each 

member of the planning and zoning commission and the board of 

commissioners. 

 

2. Conflict of interest. Following receipt of the agenda and prior to 

the first public hearing, the individual officials shall file a conflict 

of interest disclosure report as may be required by O.C.G.A. § 36-

67A. 

 

3. Staff review and recommendation. The planning and development 

department director shall prepare, with the assistance of the 

technical review process when applicable, a written 

recommendation and zoning analysis that shall include: The items 

listed in subsection (c)(14)c.1.—5. as appropriate, and the items 

listed in subsection (c)(15)a.—g. as appropriate, and the following: 

 

a. Comments on a site review of the property and 

surrounding area, as well as an analysis of any 

previous zoning history relative to the tract; and 

 

b. Statement as to the conformity with Putnam 

County's Comprehensive Plan; and 

 

c. The opinions and findings resulting from the 

technical review process. 

 

 

(e) Recommendation distribution. In advance of the public hearing by the planning 

and zoning commission, copies of the written recommendations and the 

attachments shall be provided to each member of the planning and zoning 

commission and the board of commissioners. A copy of the recommendation shall 

be provided to the applicant within a reasonable time after distribution has been 

made. A reasonable number of copies will be available to the public on a first-

come basis. 

 

Sec. 66-162. - Application scheduling and fees. 

 

(a) Applications shall be submitted in accordance with subsection 66-161(b)(4) and 

shall be heard by the planning and zoning commission at a public hearing no 

earlier than on the first Thursday of the second month following the application 

202

https://library.municode.com/ga/putnam_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH66ZO_ARTIVADEN_DIV3ZOCH_S66-161APZOCH
https://library.municode.com/ga/putnam_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH66ZO_ARTIVADEN_DIV3ZOCH_S66-161APZOCH
https://library.municode.com/ga/putnam_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH66ZO_ARTIVADEN_DIV3ZOCH_S66-161APZOCH


deadline and the board of commissioners at a public hearing no earlier than on the 

third Tuesday following the planning and zoning public hearing. Applicants will 

be notified if a hearing is cancelled per subsection 66-150(c)(2)a., along with the 

rescheduled date of the new hearing. 

 

(b) Application fees for an application to amend the official zoning map shall be 

established by the board of commissioners and made available by the planning 

and development department. A fee shall not be charged for applications initiated 

by the board of commissioners. 

 

Sec. 66-165. - Action on rezoning application or text amendment. 

 

(a) Hearing. The planning and zoning commission and the board of commissioners 

shall hold public hearings on each application or text amendment as provided 

in section 66-162. 

 

(b) Director's reports. 

 

1. The director of the planning and development department at the 

public hearings shall state staff's recommendation for each 

application or text amendment after hearing proponents and 

opponents issues. 

 

2. For the BOC hearing, the director will also state the P & Z 

recommendation. 

 

(c) Considerations. In addition, the planning and zoning commission and the board of 

commissioners shall, with respect to each application or text amendment, consider 

each of the matters set forth in subsection (d) of this section, the opinions and 

findings of the technical review process and the recommendation of the director 

of the planning and development department. 

 

(d) Standards governing consideration of a zoning change. All amendments to the 

zoning map shall be viewed by the planning and zoning commission and the 

board of commissioners in light of the following standards used to determine the 

balance between an individual's unrestricted right to the use of his or her property 

and the public's right to the protection of its health, safety, morality, or general 

welfare of the community. These standards shall be printed and copies thereof 

shall be available to the general public during regular business hours. Emphasis 

may be placed on those criteria most applicable to the specific use proposed: 

 

1. Is the proposed use consistent with the stated purpose of the zoning 

district that is being requested? 

 

2. Is the proposed use suitable in view of the zoning and development 

of adjacent and nearby property? 

203

https://library.municode.com/ga/putnam_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH66ZO_ARTIVADEN_DIV1ESREPLZOCO_S66-150CRMEORME
https://library.municode.com/ga/putnam_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH66ZO_ARTIVADEN_DIV3ZOCH_S66-162APSCFE


 

3. Will the proposed use adversely affect the existing use, value or 

usability of adjacent or nearby property? 

 

4. Is the proposed use compatible with the purpose and intent of the 

comprehensive plan? 

 

5. Are there substantial reasons why the property cannot or should 

not be used as currently zoned? 

 

6. Will the proposed use cause an excessive or burdensome use of 

public facilities or services or exceed the present or funded 

capabilities, including but not limited to streets, water or sewer 

utilities, and police or fire protection? 

 

7. Is the proposed use supported by new or changing conditions not 

anticipated by the comprehensive plan or reflected in the existing 

zoning on the property or surrounding properties? 

 

8. Does the proposed use reflect a reasonable balance between the 

promotion of the public health, safety, and a reasonable private use 

of the subject property? 

 

9. In addition to the standards enumerated in items (1)—(8) of this 

section, the planning and zoning commission and the board of 

commissioners may consider the following standards in a rezoning 

application if applicable: 

 

a. Duration for which the property has been vacant; 

 

b. Development patterns and trends in the community; 

and 

 

c. Potential air, water, noise and light pollution. 

 

(e) Amendments to the application or to text amendments. 

 

1. The planning and zoning commission may recommend 

amendments to an applicant's request which would: reduce the land 

area, change the district requested, number of dwelling units, 

locations of ingress and egress, and building height. The planning 

and zoning commission may also apply buffers, increase setbacks 

and hours of operation and impose conditions of rezoning, which 

may be deemed advisable so that the purpose of this chapter will 

be served, and the health, public safety and general welfare are 

secured. 

204



 

2. The board of commissioners is hereby authorized also to enter into 

a development agreement setting forth the conditions placed on the 

approval of a zoning application. The development agreement will 

be referred to the planning and zoning commission to draft the 

conditions and terms before resubmitting to the board of 

commissioners for approval. 

 

3. If the request is for a rezoning of a portion of a parcel or shall 

result in the combination of multiple parcels or a portion of 

multiple parcels, the approval of such rezoning shall be 

conditioned upon the resurveying and the recordation in the 

Superior Court of Putnam County of an accurate the plat within 60 

days of approval by the Board of Commissioners.  A copy of the 

recorded plat shall be filed with the planning and development 

department director.  Failure to file a plat pursuant to this 

subsection shall have the effect of invalidating the rezoning 

action.  If conditions have been made to the rezoning approval, the 

new zoning district designation on the official zoning maps shall 

include an asterisk (*), such conditions being reflected in the 

official minutes of the meeting of the board of commissioners. 

 

(f) Planning and zoning commission's and board of commissioners' decisions. 

 

1. The planning and zoning commission may recommend approval or 

deny the application, or change, reduce or modify any part of the 

application to best achieve a balance between rights of the 

applicant and the public interest. 

 

2. The board of commissioners may grant approval or deny the 

application, or change, reduce or modify any part of the application 

to best achieve a balance between rights of the applicant and the 

public interest. 

 

3. The planning and zoning commission and the board of 

commissioners may defer its vote to another hearing date, or allow 

an application to be withdrawn with or without prejudice with 

respect to the 12-month limitation of this division. An action by the 

planning and zoning commission or the board of commissioners to 

defer the application shall include a statement of the date and time 

of the next meeting at which the application will be considered. 

However, if the second public hearing will allow continued 

presentation of positions or information by proponents or 

opponents, the deferred hearing also shall be readvertised in 

compliance with section 66-163. 

 

205

https://library.municode.com/ga/putnam_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH66ZO_ARTIVADEN_DIV3ZOCH_S66-163PUNOZOHE


(g) Communication to property owner after approval. After each application has been 

disposed of by the board of commissioners, the property owner shall receive 

notification from the director of the planning and development department of the 

zoning change and the conditions related thereto. The director shall also notify the 

property owner to survey and plat new divisions of property for recording, if 

applicable. 

 

(h) File maintenance. The department of the planning and development shall 

maintain a file containing each application, which shall remain current throughout 

the development's construction to completion. The file shall contain references to 

all other permits issued pursuant to the approval of the rezoning. The department 

may maintain a summary of the pertinent data and status of the development in a 

computer database. 

 

 

 

206


	Top
	Bottom

